

NEP BYLAWS ADOPTED ON MAY 06, 2014

Amended: Mar 11, 2022

# ARTICLE 1: NAME AND LOCATION

### Section 1: NAME

The name of this organization shall be Northeast Pensacola Wildcats Football, Inc. referred to herein as NEP or the "Association."

## Section 2: LOCATION

The mailing address for all official correspondence will be Post Office Box 10414, Pensacola, FL 32524.

#### Section 3: AFFILIATION

The Association shall be affiliated with the USA Youth Football League, also known as Heads Up Football, for the 2014 season and all following seasons unless the NEP Executive Board makes the decision to change its affiliation at the completion of a season. The NEP Cheer program will be affiliated with GCYSA or its successor unless the NEP Executive Board makes the decision to change its affiliation at the completion of a season.

## ARTICLE 2: GOALS

#### Section 1: SPECIFIC GOALS

The purpose of NEP is to provide recreational athletic opportunities to youth in the Pensacola, Escambia County Florida area. The purpose and goal of the NEP football and cheerleading program is to promote a safe and competitive environment that teaches the fundamentals of football and cheerleading, while stressing the importance of teamwork, mental and physical conditioning, athletic training and education. NEP also emphasizes its coaches and players exhibit, at all times, a respectful disposition, good sportsmanship, citizenship, and high moral character.

### Section 2: NON-PROFIT STATUS

This corporation is organized exclusively for charitable, scientific and educational purposes, in relation to youth sports and athletic programs, including for such purposes as making distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code.

# **ARTICLE 3: BASIC POLICIES**

The following are the basic policies of NEP:

- a) The Board of Directors will have charge of all athletic activities sponsored by the Association. The Board of Directors shall develop and publish rules and regulations to govern all athletics endeavors including, but not limited to, the qualifications and conduct of coaches, volunteers, parents, players, participants, and all those present during NEP games, events, or activities.
- b) The Board of Directors rules and regulation shall be consistent with the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation and shall be interpreted and enforced as an addendum to these bylaws.
- c) No person(s), except for the Executive Board, shall be authorized to make any statements, whether written or oral, purporting to represent the official policy, position, or opinion of NEP, the Association, or the football and cheerleading programs without first having obtained the expressed written approval of the NEP Executive Board.
- d) No person(s), except the Executive Board, shall be authorized to solicit funds or services in the name of NEP, the Association, or the football and cheerleading programs without first having obtained the expressed written approval of the NEP Executive Board.
- e) Upon dissolution of the organization, assets shall be distributed for one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future federal tax code, or shall be distributed to the federal government, or to a state or local government, for a public purpose. Any such assets not disposed of by the District Court of the county in which the principal office of the organization is then located, exclusively for such purposes or to such organization or organizations, as said court shall determine, which are organized and operated exclusively for such purposes
- f) The Team Colors of the NEP Wildcats shall be Royal Blue and Gold. Helmets will be Gold. g) The Association, the Board of Directors, and all those affiliated in any way with NEP, the Association, or the football and cheerleading programs, shall comply with Memorandum of Understanding from the City of Pensacola Neighborhood Services



Department.

h) Any proposal of an expense over \$1,000.00 shall require approval of the Executive Board by majority vote. Any proposal of an expense presented to the Executive Board shall be accompanied by a minimum of three (3) bids and should be discussed at the next board meeting.

# ARTICLE 4: BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THEIR ELECTION

## Section 1: NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS

a) Only those persons who are eligible and who have acknowledged their consent to serve, if elected, shall be nominated for and appointed to serve on the Board of Directors. The candidates should be in good standing in the community, willing to submit to a background check, and fully committed to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of his or her position on the Board of Directors.

b) Notification of willingness to serve must be presented in writing or via e-mail to the current Executive Board prior to November. Any candidate that has an unfavorable background check will be notified immediately by the current President or Vice-President of NEP and will not be permitted to serve as a member of the Board of

Directors

c) Elected Board Members may serve as a Head Coach or Assistant Coach provided that the respective position responsibilities do not interfere with their duties of their position on the Board of Directors. d) The election for open seats on the Board of Directors will take place at the annual election meeting in November, the first Monday after the end of League year (championship games), at a location designated by the current Executive Board. The Board of Directors shall be elected by a simple majority vote of all members who have paid the full balance of all fees due and owing, and who are in good standing with NEP and the Association. All paid members must vote in person at the election meeting.

# Section 2: BOARD OF DIRECTOR POSITIONS AND THEIR TERM OF OFFICE a)

a) The Park President shall serve a two (2) year term.

- b) The Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, Cheer Coordinator, Football Commissioner, and Player Safety Coordinator shall hold office for a period of one (1) year, but may succeed himself/herself at the discretion of the current Board of Directors.
- c) Each Member at Large shall hold office for a period of one (1) year, but may succeed himself/herself at the discretion of the current Board of Directors.
- d) No one person may hold more than one elected Board of Directors position.

e) Terms shall commence on January 1st and end on December 31st.

- f) A vacancy occurring in any office shall be filled for the unexpired term by a person appointed with a simple majority vote of the Executive Board of NEP.
- g) The Board of Directors will be responsible for administering all football and cheerleading activities.

# ARTICLE 5: DUTIES OF EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS

Section 1: The Executive Board shall consist of the Park President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, Cheer Coordinator, Football Commissioner, and Player Safety Coordinator. The Executive Board shall be comprised of the seven (7) members of the Board of Directors, which shall have voting privileges. The two (2) Member at Large positions are not members of the Executive Board, and thus shall not record official votes on park matters. All voting powers of an Executive Board member shall be consistent with and the same as any other member of the Executive Board. The Board shall keep cash reserves totaling \$5,000.00 in a reserve account at all times. The Executive Board reserves the right to appoint any other non-voting positions and/or committees which it deems necessary to carry out the duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors and to serve the best interest of NEP and the Association.

### Section 2: PRESIDENT

His or her duties shall include but are not limited to:

a) Be the official representative of NEP, the Association, and the Football and Cheerleading programs in all matters involving the USA Youth Football League or its successors.

b) Be responsible for scheduling all Board of Directors meetings.

c) Liaise between NEP and the City of Pensacola Neighborhood Services Department and coordinate all program activities in which City of Pensacola parks and facilities are utilized by the program. d) When necessary, appoint a replacement for open positions on the Board. The Executive Board will approve these appointments.

e) Investigate the circumstances involved in the removal of a coach, player, parent, or member that has



displayed improper conduct as described by the governing policies.

f) Develop and maintain sponsor relations.

g) Oversee the ordering of all football equipment and uniforms.

h) Sign all written contracts approved by the Executive Board of NEP and the Association. i) Coordinate the work of the Executive Board Members in order that the purposes of the organization may be promoted.

 j) Have overall responsibility and coordination for all financial programs including registration, sponsorships, concessions, etc. as well as expenditures.

k) Report directly to the Board of Directors as to all communications between the Program and the City of Pensacola Neighborhood Services Department and/or the USA Youth Football League or its successor. 1) Perform any other duties as assigned/agreed upon by the Board.

m) Vote on all Board matters.

### Section 3: VICE PRESIDENT

His or her duties shall include but are not limited to:

a) Preside over all regular and special meetings in the absence of the President.

b) Succeed the President for the remainder of his/her term of office in the event he/she is unable or unwilling to continue in said office.

c) Shall serve at all times and act in the capacity as the Park President in his absence.

d) Be responsible for initiating all football/cheerleading registration activities including sufficient advertising of dates and times.

e) Assist in the registration of Players and Cheerleaders.

f) Perform any other duties as assigned/agreed upon by the Board of Directors.

g) Vote on all Board matters.

### Section 4: SECRETARY

His or her duties include but are not limited to:

a) Keep an accurate record of the proceedings of all meetings of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board.

b) Record all voting in the minutes.

c) Prepare and disseminate minutes of the meetings to the appropriate board members at the following meeting of the Executive Board.

d) Keep a copy of the current bylaws.

e) Be responsible for the preparation and counting of any necessary ballots.

f) Maintain a current and complete roster of all players and cheerleaders of NEP.

g) Maintain rosters of all coaches and players on all teams and prepare copies of these to be given to the coaches for their use during the season.

h) Assist in submitting required rosters will all necessary information to any governing body prior to games. Work with the Football Commissioner, Cheerleading Coordinator and Head Coaches to ensure this is done.

i) Update NEP's website and social networks throughout his/her term. Ensure all website and social networks are updated with correct information in a timely manner.

j) Assist in the registration of Players and Cheerleaders.

k) Perform any other duties as assigned/agreed upon by the Board.

## Section 5: TREASURER

His or her duties include but are not limited to:

a) Receive monies of NEP, keeping an accurate record thereof and shall deposit them in the name of NEP in a bank or credit union approved by the Executive Board.

b) Pay all bills as authorized by the Board.

- c) Maintain signing authority of all NEP accounts. The primary authorized signers on the accounts will be the Treasurer and President. The Secretary is authorized to sign in the President's absence.
- d) All checks must be signed by the Treasurer and one other authorized signer to ensure financial integrity of purchases.

e) Present a statement of accounting at every meeting and when otherwise requested by a board member.

- f) Make sure that the Executive Board maintains a reserve account with cash reserve totaling at least \$5,000.00 at all times.
- g) File or cause to be filed such annual reports with the IRS, the State of Florida and local agencies as required by



law.

- h) Submit annual financial report in December to the Executive Board which includes gross receipts and disbursements for the previous year.
- i) Serve as Administrator for the online registration site and track all players/cheerleaders outstanding account balances. Provide reports of registrants to the Executive Board as requested.
- j) Assist in the registration of Players and Cheerleaders.
- k) Perform any other duties as assigned/agreed upon by the Board.

## Section 6: Football Commissioner - his or her duties include but are not limited to:

- a) Assist the President and Vice President with all park concerns, to include football rosters, weigh-ins, schedules, practices, background checks, coaches training, equipment, etc.
- b) Responsible for the distribution of football equipment/uniforms. Inventory of all equipment must be taken prior to distribution and a log must be kept showing what the commissioner has received.
- c) Coordinate with Head Coaches to turn in all NEP football equipment at the end of the season.
- d) Communicate from the Executive Board to Head Coaches of football and vice versus.
- e) Assist the Treasurer in creating and maintaining the football budget per season by collecting competitive bids from quality vendors and accounting for all expenses related to the football program.
- f) Report to the Executive Board about the condition of the grounds and necessary equipment maintenance and repairs.
- g) Be responsible for managing weight scale.
- h) Be responsible for resolving football coaches, parents and/or fan disputes.
- i) Assist in the registration of Players and Cheerleaders.
- j) Perform any other duties as assigned by the President or Board of Directors.

## Section 7: Player Safety Coordinator - his or her duties include but are not limited to:

- a) Ensure the weather conditions are suitable for activity and recommend suspension of activity when appropriate and as mandated by the League. This includes severe rain, lightning, temperature (heat index/wet bulb), and field conditions.
- b) Monitor players for symptoms of head injury; evaluate, and remove from play when necessary (decision may supersede coaches' or parents' decision for instances of removal from play)
- c) Responsible for coordinating emergency response in case first responders are called to an event, such as instances of significant player/spectator injury, or disturbance of peace.
- d) If applicable, responsible for educating Board/coaches on the location and use of the park AED
- e) Perform any other duties as assigned by the President or the Board of Directors.

## Section 8: Cheerleading Coordinator - his or her duties include but are not limited to:

- a) Aid and assist the Cheerleader coaches in the promulgation of the cheerleader program or any designated events including practices and camps.
- b) Will direct, schedule and assist Cheerleader coaches in the fitting and issuing of uniforms. c) Assist the Treasurer in creating and maintaining the cheerleading budget per season by collecting competitive bids from quality vendors and accounting for all expenses related to the cheer program. d) Give report on any cheer issues, praises, progress, etc.
- e) Schedule dates, times and gathering materials for cheer registration.
- f) Assist in the registration of Cheerleaders and Players.
- g) Perform any other duties as assigned by the President or the Board of Directors.

## Section 9: Members at Large

There shall be two (2) Members at Large who are appointed by the Board of Directors. The Members at Large are non-voting members of the Board of Directors and are not members of the Executive Board. Their duties include but are not limited to:

a) Assist the Executive Board members with their duties as needed



b) Perform any other duties as assigned by the President or Executive Board.

c) Provide input, suggestions, information and guidance on matters related to NEP, the Association, and the Football and Cheerleading Programs.

## ARTICLE 6: POSITIONS AND COMMITTEES

## Section 1: HEAD COACHES, ASSISTANT COACHES AND COMMITTEES

The Executive Board will determine the number of coaches for each team not to exceed USA Youth Football requirements. Assistant Coaches will be appointed by the Head Coach and approved by the Board. It is the responsibility of the Executive Board to ensure that all coaches meet the requirements and standards of NEP and USA Youth Football League.

#### Section 2: HEAD COACHES

His or her duties include but are not limited to:

a) Being responsible for the overall management of his/her coaching staff and team (Coaching Staff must also submit to annual background checks. Any candidate that has an unfavorable background check will be notified immediately by the current President or Vice President of NEP).

b) Be the primary point of contact between the team and parents.

- c) Must attend the League's coach's clinic, complete any required certification courses and have a valid league ID card.
- d) Work jointly with applicable program director on the distribution of uniforms and/or equipment to his/her coaching staff and team.
- e) Assist in the collection and returning of all equipment that was issued to his/her coaching staff and team. f) Actively participate at NEP registration events during the off season.

g) Assist with facilities upkeep before and after games and practices as required.

- h) Must display good sportsmanship, follow the rules of competition and follow the league coaches Code of Conduct.
- i) Responsible for the discipline of all players/cheerleaders on his/her team and will ensure players who cause friction on the team are reported to their parents for their actions. Any disciplinary action resulting in a coach removing a player/cheerleader from the team must be brought before the Board of Directors.

j) No coach shall degrade a child for any reason.

k) Under no circumstance is a coach allowed to use physical contact to discipline a child on his or her team.

l) Must be able to attend the majority of practices, games and coaches meetings.

m) Football coaches should attempt to allow every player to participate in games. Parents should be informed that all players are NOT guaranteed participation in every game due to many factors, including but not limited to, safety concerns. Every player is required to participate in assigned practices.

n) Responsible for knowing Article 11, Section 3, coaches Code of Conduct.

o) Assist in the registration of Players and Cheerleaders.

- p) Must have prior approval from the Executive Board to coach on two different teams. q) Must clearly communicate practice schedules, game schedules, practice cancellations due to inclement weather or other circumstances. Communication should also include a letter, or meeting, for the parents at the beginning of the season outlining practice schedules, contact information, player safety, player and parent conduct, expectations and goals for the team, and other relevant information.
- r) Perform any other duties as assigned by the President of the Board of Directors.

## Section 3: ASSISTANT COACHES

His or her duties include but are not limited to:

- a) Act as aide to Head Coaches.
- b) Serve at the pleasure of the Head Coach and may be removed by the Head Coach
- c) Must have a respectful disposition, display good sportsmanship, and follow the rules of competition.

d) Responsible for knowing Article 11, Section 3, coaches Code of Conduct.

- e) Submit to annual background checks. Any candidate that has an unfavorable background check will be notified immediately by the current President or Vice President of NEP.
- f) Recommended to attend the League's coach's clinic, complete any required certification courses and have a valid league ID card.
- g) Under no circumstance is an assistant coach allowed to use physical contact to discipline a child. h)



Must have prior approval from the Executive Board to coach on two different teams.

#### Section 4: COMMITTEES

The Executive Board, by simple majority vote of those in attendance, may designate one or more committees.

- a. Types of committees include but are not limited to:
- 1) Jamboree
- 2) Homecoming
- 3) Equipment
- 4) Fundraising

b. Any such committee will have no power or authority to amend the bylaws, obtain property or assets of NEP, enter into contracts on behalf of NEP, or fundraise on behalf of NEP without the expressed written consent of the Executive Board.

## ARTICLE 7: MEETINGS

#### Section 1: ANNUAL MEETINGS

NEP Executive Board members will hold annual meetings during the off-season, in the month of July). All annual meetings are open to the public and location and time must be posted on the website at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting.

## Section 2: REGULAR MEETINGS

NEP Executive Board members will hold regular monthly meetings during the off-season, and meetings during the regular season as the President or Board deems necessary. All regular meetings are open to the public by appointment. If you would like to attend the meeting to address the Board, an appointment can be made by emailing the park at NEPwildcats@gmail.com

## Section 3: SPECIAL MEETINGS

Special meetings can be called at the request of the President of NEP. These meetings may or may not be open to the public.

#### Section4: ANNUAL ELECTION

The annual election meeting shall be held in November, the first Monday after the league year (championship games) and shall be open to the public at a location designated by the current Executive Board of Directors.

#### Section 5: PARTICIPATION

- a) The privilege of voting in the Annual Election shall be limited to paid members (i.e. accounts paid in full) and members who are in good standing with the Association.
- b) Any member who is in good standing, and who is paid in full, may present at a meeting of the NEP Board of Directors and shall be allowed to address the Board of Directors regarding pertinent items as outlined above. c) There must be at least a quorum of Executive Board members present to vote on any matter brought before the Board of Directors at regular or special meetings. A quorum shall consist of four (4) of the seven (7) Executive Board members.

### Section 6: SPECIAL ACTION

For situations requiring an Executive Board action where there is not time to hold a special meeting, the President may call for a vote via email on an issue. In this instance, a majority of the Executive Board must vote affirmatively for the action to be declared passed.

### ARTICLE 8: REGISTRATION

#### Section 1: FEES

a) Registration fees for each player will be set prior to registration by the Executive Board. b) Registration fees for football players shall include the use of NEP equipment, including a helmet and shoulder pads, which shall



be returned to NEP at the end of the football season.

- c) The registration fee for football players will also include a game jersey, game pants, and game socks, which the player may keep at the end of the season.
- d) Registration fees for new cheerleaders include a full uniform, pep rally uniform, poms, shoes and bows.

e) All fees will be collected by the Treasurer or his/her designee.

f) Total amount of fees must be paid in full by deadlines set by the Executive Board.

#### Section 2: DATES

Registration dates for all players will be set each year by the Executive Board.

#### Section 3: REFUNDS

a) All football fees are refundable until uniforms have been ordered, at which point the uniform fee becomes non-refundable. Exceptions will be made in extreme circumstances as decided by the Executive Board.

b) No refunds will be given for Cheerleading after the registration deadline.

c) Any disputed refund request will be brought to the Executive Board's attention in a regular meeting and will be voted on by simple majority vote.

#### Section 4: OUTSTANDING BALANCES

- a) Any returning player with a prior year balance for registration fees, equipment, uniforms, etc. shall not be allowed to register for the current year until such times as the prior year's balance is paid and all amounts due for the current year are paid in advance.
- b) Debts will be communicated to the league in instances of park transfer requests (Formerly the transfer form)

## **ARTICLE 9: TEAMS**

#### Section 1: Number of Teams

The number of teams that will be fielded in a given season will be decided by the Executive Board. The Executive Board reserves the right to set a maximum or minimum for the number of players on a team, in compliance with league rules.

#### Section 2: Team Fundraising

Teams are not required to organize separate fundraising activities or events; however, teams are permitted to work in conjunction with the Board of Directors to organize fundraising activities or events. All fundraising activities or events shall be approved by the Executive Board and such activities must follow any rules or regulations adopted by the Executive Board. Funds raised on behalf of an NEP team shall be used for said team, in alignment with the activity/activities that were approved by the Board of Directors. Any surplus from such fundraising activities or events shall be distributed back to the park for the general fund to be used to support NEP, the Association or the football and cheerleading programs. Any individual who collects money on behalf of NEP as a result of fundraising activities and intentionally withholds such funds from NEP, or converts such funds for their own personal use, will be reported to law enforcement for criminal prosecution.

## ARTICLE 10: NEP GENERAL RULES

- 1) Every effort of good sportsmanship should be exhibited during and after the game for all players, coaches and fans. Issues or complaints should first be addressed to the team's Head Coach or appropriate Director. If the issue/complaint is unresolved at that level, it should be submitted to the Executive Board in writing.
- 2) The program will provide all registered football players, whose account is paid in full, with a helmet and shoulder pads (i.e. equipment). This equipment is the property of NEP and shall be returned to the team's Head Coach at the end of the season. Failure to return NEP equipment will result in your player forfeiting his or her right to register and participate in future NEP or associated league athletic activities or events until equipment is returned or replaced.

3) All equipment issued by NEP shall be signed for, by the coach and player's parent/guardian, upon issue and when returned at the end of each season. The equipment is expected to be returned in the same condition it was issued barring normal wear and tear.

4) There will be no fee waivers or scholarships given to any player.

5) Any individual involved in an active litigation against NEP, to include coaches, players or Board of Directors will immediately forfeit participation with NEP.

6) Head Coaches must be at least 21 years of age and Assistant Coaches must be a minimum of 18 years of age.



- 7) Players must play within their assigned age group. Players are not permitted to play up in age group except in extremely unique circumstances (as decided by the Board) that must be documented with all parties before being brought before the Executive Board and will require a unanimous vote.
- 8) All individuals will adhere to the NEP Code of Conduct, found on the NEP website or through the following link (https://dt5602vnjxv0c.cloudfront.net/portals/21409/docs/nep\_player\_participation.pdf)
- 9) Only Board Members, Coaches, and credentialed Special Volunteers (chain gang, media, etc.) are allowed on the playing field/sidelines at any time. Violators will be subject to removal as deemed necessary by the Board.

### Section 1: PLAYERS

- a) All players will conduct themselves within the rules of the game and fair play.
- b) The use of drugs, tobacco and/or alcohol will lead to immediate dismissal from the program. c) Foul language at any time will not be tolerated.
- d) Player conduct determined by the Head Coach to be detrimental to the unity and development of the team may result in disciplinary action, including but not limited to, dismissal from the team, subject to the review by the Executive Board.
- e) All players are required to suit out in their assigned uniforms during all game events.

#### Section 2: PARENTS

The football and cheerleading programs are run by volunteers and NEP depends on parent involvement. The Executive Board encourages parents to be involved with your child's team (Team Mom, fundraising opportunities etc.).

- a) Derogatory remarks made by parents, family, friends, or guests of a player or participant in reference to coaches, players, or board members will not be tolerated and may result in the players/participants expulsion from the program.
- b) No fighting, profanity, alcohol, drugs, smoking or weapons in the park or around children, players or participants.
- c) No parent shall degrade a child for any reason.
- d) All registration fees must be paid in full by prescribed deadlines in order for players to receive equipment.
- e) Parents shall address the Head Coach of any concerns prior to notifying the Executive Board. All concerns should be addressed either before or after practices and games and conducted in a professional manner.
- e) Parents are not allowed on the playing field/sidelines at any time, unless credentialed by the officials/League/Board for a specific task (chain gang, media, etc.). Violators will be subject to removal as deemed necessary by the Board.

### Section 3: COACHES

The term "Coach" shall include Head Coach and Assistant Coach, or any person in a team leadership role.

- a) All coaches shall adhere to all league rules and policies.
- b) Under no circumstance does a coach have the authority to decide not to play a scheduled game. Not showing up for a game without contacting the appropriate program director or another member of the Executive Board with justifiable explanation, will be grounds for immediate removal and terminates any rights to coach within NEP.
- c) Head Coaches are responsible for the behavior of assistant coaches, players and parents. d) All coaches must behave in such a manner that the principles, integrity and dignity of the sport are maintained and serve as a role model to parents and players.
- e) All coaches are required to dress in the assigned coach's shirt during all scheduled games and events designated which require uniforms of NEP players.
- f) Head Coaches are responsible for effectively communicating practice schedules, game schedules, changes to practice or game schedules and any other league news that directly impact the players or the team including managing the Park's preferred method/vector of communication (currently the Facebook application)

# g) No coach shall speak on behalf of the park without prior approval from the Executive Board.

# <u>ARTICLE 11: PROBLEM SOLVING GUIDELINES</u>



The NEP football and cheerleading programs are considered our family and like any family from time to there will be misunderstandings and disagreements. We rely on our Executive Board members, coaches, players and parents to be civil toward each other and try to work out problems without intervention. However, if that cannot be accomplished, the following procedures should be utilized.

- a) Players having problems with another player should report the matter immediately to any of his/her team's coaches. The assistant coach shall attempt to resolve the matter. If the assistant coach cannot resolve the situation then it must be reported to the head coach who shall resolve the matter between the players and consult with the player's parents if necessary. The decision of the head coach shall be final.
- b) Coaches on the same team having problems will be resolved immediately by the head coach of that team. The decision of the head coach shall be final.
- Coaches on different teams or head coaches having a problem will immediately bring the matter to the attention of the Executive Board.
- d) The Executive Board shall hear both sides and resolve the matter immediately, if possible. The decision of the Executive Board shall be final.
- e) Parents having problems with a coach or coaches should report the matter to the head coach who shall resolve the matter. If the problem is with a head coach, the Executive Board shall handle the matter. In the case of parent complaints, the Executive Board shall hear both sides and make a decision. The decision of the Executive Board is final.
- f) In situations involving violations of these rules, the penalty imposed, if any, is within the sole discretion of the Executive Board, and depending on the circumstances, a lesser or greater penalty may be applied, including but not limited to, expulsion from the program.
- g) The Executive Board for NEP reserves the right to have any person(s) removed from the premises, which may result in NEP filing formal charges for trespassing, if he or she is found to be disturbing the peace or acting in a manner that endangers the health, safety, or welfare of parents, players, or participants of NEP athletic events.

# **ARTICLE 12: PLAYER SAFETY PROTOCOLS**

Section 1: During any sport, players may occasionally incur injuries. These cover a vast range of symptoms and etiologies. Minor injuries such as scrapes, bruises, etc. may be treated with first aid as deemed appropriate and agreeable to the coach and parent (Player Safety Coordinator may also be consulted). More serious injuries may be subject to evaluation/triage by the Player Safety Coordinator. The Player Safety Coordinator may remove a child from play and recommend consulting a physician. Ultimately it is up to the parent to follow up on these recommendations. The Player Safety Coordinator reserves the right to prohibit a player from return-to-play until a note/documentation is received from a healthcare provider that the player may do so.

Section 2: In the event of emergency, the Player Safety Coordinator will ensure the emergency response is activated, along with assistance from any Board members, coaches, and parents as deemed necessary by the Player Safety Coordinator. This includes but is not limited to: calling for emergency responders (ambulance, police, etc.), requesting retrieval of emergency equipment such as an AED or ice bath, crowd control, and direct instructions on managing the patient until said emergency services arrive.

### Section 3: Weather Protocols:

In the event of general inclement weather/conditions, the Player Safety Coordinator may deem the environment unfit for activity. In such situations, the Board will discuss and decide on cancelling/suspending activity until such conditions improve.

a. Lightning: per league and FHSAA guidelines, if lightning is detected within a 10 mile radius of the area, activity will be immediately suspended and people will be encouraged to seek shelter until there has been no lightning detected within a 10 mile radius for a period of at least 30 minutes. After these conditions have been satisfied, activity may resume unless otherwise contraindicated.

b. Heat: per league and FHSAA guidelines, activity will be suspended if the heat index value reaches >110 degrees



fahrenheit. Activity may not resume until conditions fall below that threshold.

- c. If Heat Index is below 110 degrees Fahrenheit at practice, Wet Bulb Globe Temperature guidelines may be followed, provided you have access to WBGT data
  - i) WBGT is between 87-90 degrees Fahrenheit: players are restricted to shells (helmet/shoulder pads and shorts) and must receive at least four (4) breaks per hour, each at least 5 minutes in duration. Activity may be no longer than two (2) hours in total and any conditioning must be performed without equipment on.
  - ii) WBGT is between 90-92 degrees Fahrenheit: players are not permitted to wear any equipment and must receive at least four (4) breaks per hour, each at least 5 minutes in duration. Activity may be no longer than one (1) hour in total and NO conditioning may be conducted. (Walk-through practices are strongly encouraged in this event)
    - iii) WBGT > 92 degrees Fahrenheit: No activity may be conducted

### Section 4: Concussion Protocol:

NEP Wildcats Football Inc. adheres to the standard concussion protocol as written by USA Football. Any player thought to have sustained a concussion should be referred to the Player Safety Coordinator for evaluation. If the Player Safety Coordinator feels there is any reasonable suspicion of concussion, the player will be removed from activity and referred to a healthcare professional for evaluation. The player will not be permitted to return to activity until a note/documentation has been received by NEP that the player may do so, at which point the standard return to play for concussions will be followed:

- Day 1- Player may participate in solo drills/conditioning. No equipment shall be worn on day 1. If the player does not experience any symptoms, they may advance to (Day 2)
- Day 2- Player may participate in non-contact drills in a helmet only. Player may condition. If the player does not experience any symptoms, they may advance to (Day 3). \*\*If the player experiences symptoms, they must restart the process at Day 1.
- Day 3- Player may wear shells (helmet and shoulder pads with shorts) Player may participate in limited, controlled contact drills and conditioning. Player may not participate in full team contact drills. If the player does not experience any symptoms, they may advance to (Day 4). \*\*If the player experiences symptoms, they must restart the process at Day 1.
- Day 4- Player may dress in full gear and participate in a full practice (not cleared for competition until they have completed this full practice). If the player completes a full practice and is symptom-free, they are cleared for full return to competition. \*\*If the player experiences symptoms, they must restart the process at Day 1.

At any point, the Player Safety Coordinator, coach, or parent reserves the right to withhold a player from activity if they feel there is a safety concern.

# ARTICLE 13: INDEMNIFICATION

The Association may indemnify and insure its officers, directors, employees, agents, coaches and volunteers to the fullest extent permitted by law.



## **ARTICLE 14: AMENDMENTS**

1) These Bylaws may be altered, amended, rescinded or repealed at any annual or special meeting of the Executive Board by the affirmative vote of at least four (4) members, provided that notice thereof is given in accordance with these Bylaws and is otherwise required by law.

2) Bylaw changes will be posted for 30 days on the NEP website after they have been approved by a simple majority vote of the members of the Executive Board. Once the 30 day period has expired, the amended bylaw

will immediately supersede the original by law it is replacing.

These bylaws have been reviewed and accepted by the NEP Executive Board on  $\frac{7/24/27}{1300}$ . Signed by:

Anthony Porterfield, President

Date

Scot Brazell, Vice President

Date